STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Feb 21 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Jasper County

Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

ANTONIO SCOTT,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001186

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR judge who signed the final order of dismissal erred in failing to recuse herself when she was the trial judge and did both judges, the judge who signed the conditional order of dismissal and the judge who signed the final order of dismissal, court err in dismissing the application for post-conviction relief as being filed outside the one-year statute of limitations without appointing counsel and without conducting a hearing when there is evidence in the record that Petitioner, an unrepresented indigent party, mailed the application from the South Carolina Department of Corrections to the Jasper County Clerk of Court, at the correct address, presenting questions of law and fact that entitle Petitioner to the appointment of counsel and an evidentiary hearing on the statute of limitations issue as well as ineffective assistance of counsel claims?

STATEMENT

In April of 2011, the Jasper County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Antonio Scott, for murder, indictment #2011-GS-27-00216. (App. pp. 233-234). On December 5, 2011, Petitioner proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen. Robert Hughes represented Petitioner at trial. Robert Ferguson prosecuted the case. The jury found Petitioner guilty. Judge Mullen sentenced Petitioner to thirty (30) years in prison. (App. p. 235). A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed and the direct appeal perfected. On February 19, 2014, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction and sentence. State v. Scott, 408 S.C. 21, 757 S.E.2d 533 (Ct.App. 2014). (App. pp. 275-280). A timely petition for rehearing was filed and then denied on May 2, 2014.

On May 20, 2014, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari with the South Carolina Supreme Court. On September 11, 2014, the South Carolina Supreme Court granted the petition for writ of certiorari. After hearing argument, the Court affirmed. State v. Scott, 414 S.C. 482, 779 S.E.2d 529 (2015). (App. pp. 281-287). A timely petition for rehearing was filed and then denied on December 16, 2015. The remittitur issued on December 16, 2015.

In a letter to the Clerk of the South Carolina Supreme Court dated September 9, 2021, Petitioner wrote that he filed an application for post-conviction relief [PCR] with the Jasper County Clerk of Court on January 15, 2016. (App. pp. 288-292). Petitioner wrote that he filed an amended application in April of 2016. (App. p. 288). Petitioner also stated that he had not received responses from the Jasper County Clerk of Court. (App. p. 289). The Appendix includes an inmate receipt for postage for legal matters dated January 15, 2016. (App. p. 292). In a letter dated September 15, 2021, the Clerk of the South Carolina Supreme Court forwarded Petitioner's letter to the Jasper County Clerk of Court. (App. p. 293). In a letter dated

September 30, 2021, the Jasper County Clerk of Court wrote to Petitioner and advised that her office did not have a PCR application on file. (App. p. 295). The clerk advised Petitioner to resubmit the application and included a blank PCR application. (App. p. 295). On October 12, 2021, Petitioner filed a PCR application and amendment. (App. pp. 296-313).

On January 25, 2022, the State filed a return and motion to dismiss. (App. pp. 314-325). The State did not request the appointment of counsel. (App. p. 314). On February 8, 2022, Petitioner filed a *pro se* motion to dismiss conditional order of dismissal. (App. pp. 338-341). On February 11, 2022, the Honorable Bentley Price signed a conditional order of dismissal. (App. pp. 326-337). On April 25, 2022, Petitioner filed a *pro se* proposed amendment. (App. pp. 343-345). Additionally on April 25, 2022, Petitioner filed a *pro se* motion for leave to amend. (App. pp. 346-348). On August 1, 2022, Petitioner filed a *pro se* objection to the conditional order of dismissal, a *pro se* proposed amendment, a *pro se* motion to dismiss conditional order of dismissal by the Respondent, and a *pro se* motion for leave to amend. (App. pp. 353-365).

On June 19, 2023, the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen signed the final order of dismissal without appointing counsel and without conducting a hearing. (App. pp. 366-368). Judge Mullen was also the trial judge. (App. p. 1). On July 5, 2023, Petitioner filed a *pro se* objection to the proposed final order of dismissal. (App. pp. 369-373). On July 26, 2023, Petitioner filed a timely *pro se* notice of intent to appeal. (App. p. 374). On August 7, 2023, Petitioner filed a *pro se* Rule 243 explanation. (App. pp. 375-377). This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

The PCR judge who signed the final order of dismissal erred in failing to recuse herself when she was the trial judge and both judges, the judge who signed the conditional order of dismissal and the judge who signed the final order of dismissal, erred in dismissing the application for post-conviction relief as being filed outside the one-year statute of limitations without appointing counsel and without conducting a hearing when there is evidence in the record that Petitioner, an unrepresented indigent party, mailed the application from the South Carolina Department of Corrections to the Jasper County Clerk of Court, at the correct address, presenting issues of law and fact that entitle Petitioner to the appointment of counsel and an evidentiary hearing on the statute of limitations issue as well as ineffective assistance of counsel claims.

Petitioner's PCR application was dismissed without an attorney being appointed and without a hearing. The judge who signed the final order of dismissal also presided over Petitioner's trial. (App. p. 1, p. 368). First, the judge who signed the final order of dismissal should have recused herself. In Floyd v. State, 303 S.C. 298, 299, 400 S.E.2d 145, 146 (1991), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote, "Accordingly, in all post-conviction relief hearings held after the date of this opinion, a judge shall, *upon motion*, recuse himself if he was the judge who presided at the guilty plea, criminal trial, or probation revocation proceeding for which relief is being sought. While Petitioner did not move for the judge to recuse herself, Petitioner was acting *pro se*, an attorney was never appointed to represent Petitioner and no hearing was held. The final order of dismissal omits reference to the trial judge's name but purports to rely on the conditional order of dismissal which clearly notes the trial judge's name.

Second, Petitioner wrote in his letter to the Clerk of the South Carolina Supreme Court dated September 9, 2021, that he timely mailed his PCR application to the Jasper County Clerk of Court on January 15, 2016. (App. pp. 288-290). The remittitur issued on December 16, 2015. Petitioner additionally stated that he filed an amended application in April of 2016. (App. p. 288). In the letter Petitioner additionally provided the address where he sent his application and amendment, the correct address for the Jasper County Clerk of Court. (App. p. 290). The

Appendix includes an inmate receipt, with Petitioner's name and SCDC number, for postage for legal matters dated January 15, 2016, the same date he states that he sent the application. (App. p. 292). Petitioner presented material questions of law and fact regarding the statute of limitations.

In response to Petitioner's *pro se* PCR application, the State moved to dismiss as untimely pursuant to S.C. Code §17-27-45. (App. p. 314). In the caption of the return the State noted that appointment of counsel was NOT requested. (App. p. 314). In the conditional order of dismissal the PCR judge wrote:

This Court has reviewed the pleadings, the records submitted by the parties, and the applicable law. This Court finds there is no genuine issue of material fact which would necessitate an evidentiary hearing. *See* § 17-27-70(b) (establishing procedure for summary disposition of PCR applications); *Leamon v. State*, 363 S.C. 432, 434, 611 S.E.2d 494, 495 (2005) (summary disposition appropriate when there is no need to develop facts and the applicant is not entitled to relief. Pursuant to South Carolina Code Annotated Sections 17-27-70 and -80, this Court informs the parties of its intent to dismiss the application based upon the following findings:

(App. p. 333). The order goes on to discuss the statute of limitations. (App. pp. 333-335). In footnote #3 of the conditional order, the PCR judge acknowledged Petitioner's letter to the Clerk of the South Carolina Supreme Court in which he states he mailed a copy of his PCR application to the Jasper County Clerk of Court in January of 2016. (App. p. 328). The order also lists seven allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, a Brady violation and a Due Process violation that were all included in Petitioner's *pro se* PCR application. (App. p. 332).

The final order of dismissal acknowledges Petitioner's numerous *pro se* responses to the conditional order of dismissal. (App. p. 367). The PCR judge who signed the final order of dismissal denied relief and dismissed with prejudice "for the reasons set forth in the Court's Conditional Order of Dismissal . . ." (App. p. 368). Both PCR judges erred in dismissing the

application without appointing counsel and conducting a hearing when there were material issues of law and fact presented with regard to the statute of limitations.

In Mose v. State, 420 S.C. 500, 505–06, 803 S.E.2d 718, 720 (2017), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

“Summary dismissal of a PCR application without a hearing is appropriate only when (1) it is apparent on the face of the application that there is no need for a hearing to develop any facts and (2) the applicant is not entitled to relief.” Leamon v. State, 363 S.C. 432, 434, 611 S.E.2d 494, 495 (2005); S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-70(b), (c) (2014). When considering the State's motion for summary dismissal of an application, where no evidentiary hearing has been held, the PCR judge must assume facts presented by the applicant are true and view those facts in the light most favorable to the applicant. Leamon, 363 S.C. at 434, 611 S.E.2d at 495. When reviewing the propriety of a dismissal, an appellate court must view the facts in the same fashion. Id.

The PCR judges erred in summarily dismissing the application without appointing counsel and conducting a hearing. Petitioner presented material issues of law and fact that required a hearing. The PCR judges failed to assume that the facts presented by Petitioner were true and failed to view those facts in the light most favorable to Petitioner. Petitioner’s statement that he timely filed his PCR application is additionally supported by the record showing a receipt for postage on the date he mailed his application. Additionally, it is not apparent on the face of the application that Petitioner was not entitled to relief. The *pro se* PCR application alleges seven instances of ineffective assistance of counsel, a Brady violation and a Due Process violation. (App. p. **).

In Gary v. State, 347 S.C. 627, 630, 557 S.E.2d 662, 664 (2001), Petitioner, an indigent unrepresented party, told the judge during the hearing that he timely filed his PCR application but filed it in the wrong place. On appeal Petitioner argued that the appellate court should allow equitable tolling of the statute of limitations. The South Carolina Supreme Court found that the

issue was not raised below and not properly before the appellate court. The Court, however, citing Rule 71.1, SCRCF, found that the hearing was inadequate and remanded for the appointment of counsel.

Rule 71.1(d) provides that:


If, after the State has filed its return, the application presents questions of law or fact which will require a hearing, the court shall promptly appoint counsel to assist the applicant if he is indigent. Counsel shall be given a reasonable time to confer with the applicant. Counsel shall insure that all available grounds for relief are included in the application and shall amend the application if necessary.

The Court in Gary wrote, “Further, in the interest of fairness, we find counsel should be appointed under Rule 71.1(d) when the State moves for dismissal under § 17–27–45(A) and the PCR applicant raises an issue of material fact regarding the applicability of the one-year limitation.” 347 S.C. at 630, 557 S.E.2d at 664.

In the present case Petitioner presented questions of law and fact with regard to the statute of limitations. Petitioner, however, was not given a hearing and was not appointed counsel. This Court should remand the case for appointment of counsel and an evidentiary hearing as the Court did in Gary.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above argument, this Court should grant the petition for writ of certiorari and remand for the appointment of counsel and an evidentiary hearing.


Kathrine H. Hudgins
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER