STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jul 08 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari
to Jasper County
Bentley D. Price, First PCR Judge
Carmen T. Mullen, Second PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001186

ANTONIO DEMAZIO SCOTT,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

**RETURN TO PETITION
FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

DANIELLE DIXON
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 73999

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Did the PCR judge who signed the final order of dismissal err in failing to recuse herself when she was the trial judge and did both judges, the judge who signed the conditional order of dismissal and the judge who signed the final order of dismissal, err in dismissing the application for post-conviction relief as being filed outside the one-year statute of limitations without appointing counsel and without conducting a hearing when there is evidence in the record that Petitioner, an unrepresented indigent party, mailed the application from the South Carolina Department of Corrections to the Jasper County Clerk of Court, at the correct address, presenting questions of law and fact that entitle Petitioner to the appointment of counsel and an evidentiary hearing on the statute of limitations issue as well as ineffective assistance of counsel claim?

Is Petitioner entitled to a hearing on the narrow issue of whether the statute of limitations should be equitably tolled?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections serving a thirty-year-sentence. In April 2011, the Jasper County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for murder (2011-GS-27-00192). On December 5-7, 2011, Petitioner proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen. Public Defender Robert Hughes represented Petitioner, and Assistant Solicitor Robert Ferguson prosecuted the case. The jury convicted Petitioner of murder, and Judge Mullen sentenced him to thirty years' imprisonment.

Petitioner filed a direct appeal, which was perfected by Appellate Defender Benjamin J. Tripp, who filed a brief arguing the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury on involuntary manslaughter. The Court of Appeals affirmed on the merits. Petitioner filed a petition for a writ of certiorari in the South Carolina Supreme Court, which was granted. On September 9, 2015, the Supreme Court issued an opinion affirming. The remittitur was sent December 16, 2015.

On October 12, 2021, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) alleging ineffective assistance of counsel, Brady violation, and due process violation. The State filed a return and motion to summarily dismiss the application based on the statute of limitations. On February 23, 2022, the court issued a Conditional Order of Dismissal.¹ Applicant filed responses to the Conditional Order of Dismissal on February 8, 2022, and August 1, 2022, again asserting he had attempted to file a PCR application in 2016. On June 27, 2023, the Court issued a Final Order of Dismissal. This Petition for a Writ of Certiorari followed.

¹ Pertinently, the Conditional Order of Dismissal noted that Petitioner sent a letter to the Supreme Court of South Carolina on September 9, 2021, asserting he mailed a PCR application to Jasper County Clerk of Court on January 15, 2015, and an amendment in April 2016, but he had not received a clocked copy of his application or amendment. The Order further noted the Supreme Court forwarded the letter to the Jasper County Clerk of Court on September 15, 2021, and the Jasper County Clerk of Court sent Petitioner a letter on September 30, 2021, indicating it did not have a PCR application filed for Petitioner or any record that an application was ever received or filed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for post-conviction relief depends on the specific issue before the appellate court. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). When reviewing factual findings, appellate courts defer to the PCR court's factual findings and will uphold them if any probative evidence in the record supports them. Buckson v. State, 423 S.C. 313, 320, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018); Smalls, 422 S.C. at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40. However, pure questions of law will be reviewed *de novo* without deference to the PCR court. Id. Appellate courts will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

ARGUMENT

Respondent concedes Petitioner is entitled to a hearing on the narrow issue of whether the statute of limitations for this PCR action should be equitably tolled.

Petitioner asserts the PCR court erred in summarily dismissing his PCR application when he presented a question of fact as to whether the statute of limitations should be equitably tolled. Respondent concedes Petitioner is entitled to a hearing on the narrow issue of whether the statute of limitations for this PCR action should be equitably tolled.

“Summary dismissal of a PCR application without a hearing is appropriate only when (1) it is apparent on the face of the application that there is no need for a hearing to develop any facts and (2) the applicant is not entitled to relief.” Pelzer v. State, 378 S.C. 516, 519, 662 S.E.2d 618, 619 (Ct. App. 2008). “When considering the State’s motion for summary dismissal of an application for PCR, a judge must assume facts presented by an applicant are true and view those facts in the light most favorable to the applicant.” Id. at 519, 662 S.E.2d at 619.

“[S]tatutes of limitations are not simply technicalities, but are fundamental to a well-ordered judicial system.” Id. at 520, 662 S.E.2d at 620. “Equitable tolling is a doctrine rarely applied in South Carolina to stop the running of statutes of limitations.” Id. “The time requirements in lawsuits between private litigants are customarily subject to equitable tolling if such tolling is necessary to prevent unfairness to a diligent plaintiff.” Id. at 521, 662 S.E.2d at 620. However, “equitable tolling . . . is typically available only if the claimant was prevented in some extraordinary way from exercising his or her rights, or, in other words, if the relevant facts present sufficiently rare and exceptional circumstances that would warrant application of the doctrine.” Id.

For PCR actions, equitable tolling has been applied when the applicant timely notarized his application and alleged a warden confirmed it was mailed before the expiration of the statute

of limitations. Mose v. State, 420 S.C. 500, 511-12, 803 S.E.2d 718, 723 (2017). However, “[t]olling the statute of limitations in circumstances in which an applicant demonstrates the failure to timely file for PCR was due to no fault of his own does not create an exception by which incarcerated litigants may avoid time restrictions.” Id. at 510, 803 S.E.2d at 723 (internal quotations omitted).

“[I]f a PCR applicant raises the doctrine of equitable tolling as a defense to the statute of limitations, the judge should make the fact-specific determination of whether equitable tolling is justified.” Id. at 511, 803 S.E.2d at 723. “As part of this determination, the judge should consider any reasonably verifiable evidence of the date the document was purportedly in the possession of prison authorities for purposes of mailing.” Id. “[I]f the circumstances warrant, the statute of limitations shall be tolled from receipt of the document by the prison until formally filed with the clerk's office, **provided that the applicant can verify by competent evidence the date prison authorities received the document for mailing.**” Id. (emphasis added).

Here, Petitioner sent a letter to the Supreme Court of South Carolina in September 2021, asserting he attempted to mail a PCR application to the Jasper County Clerk of Court in January 2016. Although mailing itself does not constitute filing for purposes of a PCR application,² Respondent concedes Petitioner has alleged facts that, if true, *could* support equitable tolling. Thus, Respondent concedes Petitioner is entitled to a hearing on the narrow issue of whether the statute of limitations should be equitably tolled. At the hearing, the PCR court can assess Petitioner's credibility and review any evidence submitted by the parties on this issue.

Respondent further contends Petitioner's request for an evidentiary hearing on the merits of his PCR allegations is premature; the proper procedure here is a remand appointment of counsel

² See Mose, 420 S.C. at 507, 803 S.E.2d at 721 (“[M]ailing does not constitute filing of a PCR application for statute of limitations purposes.”).

and a hearing on the State's motion to dismiss. Should the PCR court find Petitioner is entitled to equitable tolling, Petitioner would then be entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the merits of his PCR allegations.³

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Respondent requests this Court grant certiorari, dispense with further briefing, and remand this matter to the PCR court to consider the narrow issue of whether the statute of limitations should be equitably tolled.